University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest Department of Pathology



Pulmonary pathology of PRRS

By Anne Martine Høiby

Supervisor

Dr. Balka Gyula, DVM, Ph.D

Budapest, Hungary

2021

Table of contents

Abbreviations

1. Introduction1
2. Literature review
2.1 PRRSV- Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus
2.2 Cytokine involvement in viral pulmonary infection
2.2.1 TNF-α detection in the lungs of PRRSV infected pigs
2.2.2 IL-10 detection in the lungs of PRRSV infected pigs10
2.2.3 TGF- β detection in the lungs of PRRSV infected pigs
2.3 Regulated cell death
2.3.1 Methods detecting apoptosis15
2.4 Pro- and anti-apoptotic pathway activation by PRRSV16
2.4.1 Induction of apoptosis
2.4.2 Inhibition of apoptosis
2.5 Cellular lung damage
2.5.1 Gross and microscopic lung pathology19
2.5.2 Pneumocytes
2.5.3 Mononuclear infiltration of the septa
2.5.4 Necrotic debris, perivascular and interalveolar accumulation of inflammatory cells23
3. Discussion
4. Conclusion
5. Acknowledgements
6. References

Abbreviations

ACD	Accidental cell death	MOMP	Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization
ADWG	Average daily weight gain	mRNA	Messenger RNA
APAF-1	Apoptotic protease- activating factor-1	NCCD	Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death
ASFV	African swine fever virus	NK	Natural killer cells
BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavage	OIE	World Organisation for Animal Health
BMDC	Bone marrow-derived dendritic cells	ORFs	Open reading frames
CASP	Caspase	P53	Tumor protein 53
CD95/Fas	Pre-ligand-associated transmembrane receptor	PAMs	Pulmonary alveolar macrophages
DCs	Dendritic cells	PBMCs	Porcine blood mononuclear cells
DGE	Digital gene expression tag profiling	PCD	Programmed cell death
DISC	Death-inducing signaling complex	pi	Post infection
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	PIMs	Pulmonary intravascular macrophages
dpi	Days post infection	PRDC	Porcine Respiratory Disease Complex
EAV	Equine arteritis virus	PRRS	Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunoassay	PRRSV	Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus
FasL	Fas Ligand	RCD	Regulated cell death
HE/H&E	Hematoxylin-eosin stain	RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ICAM-1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1	RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
IFA	Indirect immunofluorescence assay	SHFH	Simian hemorrhagic fever virus
IFN-α	Interferon alfa	SWC3+	Specific myelomonocytic antigen
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma	TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
IL	Interleukin	TNFR	Tumor necrosis factor receptor
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathway	TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
LDV	Lactate-dehydrogenase elevating virus	TTF-1	Thyroid transcription factor-1
MA-104	Embryonic Rhesus Monkey Kidney Cells	TUNEL	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling
MARC-145	Subclone of African green monkey kidney- derived MA-104 cells	UPR	Unfolded protein response

1. Introduction

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) is a disease globally affecting swine herds. This viral infection is triumphing on top of the lists accounting for diseaserelated costs annually in pig producing farms, affecting both breeding and fattening pig facilities. The disease has been around since its discovery in the 1980s, and new strains of higher virulence leading to more severe clinical signs and disease in production herds have been identified. This persists to be a major problem for large scale producing pig farms, where production parameters are affected as well as mortality seen depending on the isolate causing the infection. The pathogenesis of this viral disease is still not fully understood and is under continuous investigation by researchers. The immunomodulatory abilities of the virus after infection is an interesting topic, and the search for answers to how the virus interacts with the host is of major importance in the future prevention of disease. The involvement of cytokines and their importance during PRRSV have been devoted more research in the previous years. Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines are playing important roles in the regulation of immune responses following viral disease. Cytokines are key components in several other respiratory disease conditions, and dysregulation of expression and production of these cytokines have been suggested to be a part of the viral pathogenesis of PRRSV. Regulated cell death in form of both apoptosis and necrosis are frequently reported in the lung following infection with PRRSV and research in this area is trying to understand how and why this happens. Histopathological description of lung lesions following infection report similar characteristic findings but vary in some respects depending on the genotype and strain causing the disease. The aim of this review is to try and answer the following questions focusing on pulmonary pathology and shed light on the research carried out on these specific areas concerning PRRSV infection.

- What changes can be seen in the production of cytokines, specifically IL-10, TGF-β and TNF-α in response to PRRSV infection?
- Can PRRSV induce pro- and anti-apoptotic pathways in the infected cell?
- What pulmonary cellular damages are seen during PRRSV infection?

2. Literature review

2.1 PRRSV- Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus

PRRSV is a disease affecting swine populations worldwide that accounts for major diseaserelated economic losses in today's pork production industry (Neumann et al., 2005). In Europe, the first cases of this viral disease were detected in The Netherlands and Germany in 1991 affecting breeding sows and their piglets, as well as fattening pigs (Beyer et al., 2000; Wensvoort et al., 1991).

The causative agent is an enveloped single stranded non- segmented positive-sense RNA virus, that contain at least 10 open reading frames (ORFs) (Benfield et al., 1992; Johnson et al., 2011; Lunney et al., 2016; Meulenberg and Snijder, 1998; Snijder, 1998). It belongs to the order Nidovirales, family Arteriviridae and genus Betaarterivirus (Gorbalenya et al., 2018). Within the same family of viruses as PRRSV, we find lactate-dehydrogenase elevating virus (LDV), simian hemorrhagic fever virus (SHFV) and equine arteritis virus (EAV) among others (Payne, 2017).

There are two species responsible for PRRS, *Betaarterivirus suid* 1 (PRSSV-1) and *Betaarterivirus suid* 2 (PRRSV-2). These two species share approximately 55–70 % of the same nucleotide sequences (Chen et al., 2011; Forsberg et al., 2002; Gorbalenya et al., 2018). Previously PRSSV-1 was restricted to Europe and PRRSV-2 was found in North America and Asia, but recent studies show the coexistence of the two viral strains on all three continents (Amonsin et al., 2009; Balka et al., 2008; Bøtner et al., 1997; Dewey et al., 2000; Fang et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2009; Ropp et al., 2004; Thanawongnuwech, 2004; van Vugt et al., 2001).



Figure 1: Map showing the current prevalence of PRRSV based OIE reported cases, green; free, yellow; suspected, red; present, gray; no report available or no reported cases (map: https://wahis.oie.int/#/dashboards/country-or-disease-dashboard)

PRRSV, as the name suggests results in either disease of the reproductive or respiratory system in swine. The infection manifests in reproductive disease leading to abortion and birth of weak and stillborn piglets by pregnant gilts and sows (Cheon and Chae, 2000). The respiratory form of the disease can affect pigs of all age groups, but clinical signs and course of the disease are usually more severe in young piglets. Infection of the respiratory system commonly results in dyspnea, labored breathing and characteristic interstitial pneumonia (Cheon et al., 1997; Cheon and Chae, 1999; Halbur et al., 1996).

Replication of PRRSV happens primarily in pulmonary alveolar macrophages (PAMs), but also in other cells of the macrophage and monocyte lineage in the natural host Sus scrofa (Duan et al., 1997a; Gómez-Laguna et al., 2010; Su et al., 2021). *In vitro* the virus can infect primary cell cultures such as monocyte-derived macrophages, monocyte-derived dendritic cells as well as PAMs. Other than this infection of different cell lines are restricted to some monkey kidney derived cells such as MA-104 and its subclone MARC-145 cells (Charerntantanakul et al., 2006; Kim et al., 1993; Song et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2007; Wensvoort et al., 1991). In the bronchoalveolar tract, PRRSV induces an inflammatory

response that will affect alveolar macrophages at an early stage, this is due to them playing a vital role in the first line of defense against invading pathogens. Alveolar macrophages are able to carry out antigen-specific immune responses, because of this they will be the first cells to be affected by the intruding viral agent (Cheon et al., 1997; Cheon and Chae, 1999; Halbur et al., 1996). A study carried out by Chung and Chae (2003) on porcine lung tissue done by *in situ* hybridization showed that PRRSV nucleic acid was found to be exclusively detected in the cytoplasm of interstitial macrophages. The study was carried out on lung tissue originating from piglets where the PRRSV nucleic acid was detected from day 1 to 28 post-infection. Findings of another study report that PRRSV has even been found to persist as late as day 35 post-infection in alveolar macrophages. They concluded that the extent of the viraemia positively correlates with the virus titer found in the lungs and alveolar macrophages (Duan et al., 1997b). Beyer et al. (2000) concluded that their results showed that the lung macrophages are infected at an early stage of the disease, and that it appears the spread of the virus is happening at a lower rate in the lung tissue reaching a peak between days 14–28 post-infection.

The natural course of infection or oronasal inoculation results in a quickly developing viraemia in infected pigs. It is suggested that this is due to the replication of the virus in subepithelial macrophages found in nasal and pharyngeal mucosa (Beyer et al., 2000). It is previously established that the main replication of PRRSV during acute infection finds place in the lymphoid tissues and lung macrophages (Duan et al., 1997b). The formation of characteristic lung lesions is believed to be caused by a small number of macrophages infected during the viraemia. In the days following early infection more alveolar macrophages are likely infected by the continuous viraemia and locally, by means of other nearby infected macrophages releasing the virus. Multifocal spread of the infection in the lung supports this theory. The infection can also progress in the lungs by direct spread via the respiratory route (Beyer et al., 2000). Table 1 summarizes the 3 typical phases seen in a classical acute outbreak of PRRSV.

Clinical signs	Duration
Reduced food intake, fever, flu-like symptoms.	
Spread of the diseases happens quickly in the	1–3 weeks
herd during this phase	
Late-stage abortions, premature birth, birth of	
mummified-, stillborn or weak piglets,	Following 1–4 months
dysgalactia and increased mortality of newborn	
piglets. Cyanosis can sometimes be seen in sows	
on ears, ventral abdomen, and legs. Weaners	
and growers experience respiratory symptoms	
such as coughing, dyspnea, reduced ADWG and	
increased mortality.	
Normalization of reproduction and reduction in	
mortality. Infection can become persistent and	Following 2–5 months
can lead to immunosuppression that can result	
in secondary bacterial infections by ex.	
Pasturella multocida, actinobacillus	
pleuropneumonia ect. and lead to the	
development of PRDC.	

Table 1: (Sundell and Haukaas, 2020)

2.2 Cytokine involvement in viral pulmonary infection

Cytokines are important contributors to the regulation of immune responses in viral diseases. They are small proteins that mediate cell to cell communication essential for the coordination and activation of the different parts of the immune system (Rigbe, 2020). Macrophages and T-helper cells are the main cells producing these cytokines, but they can also be produced by other cell populations in the organism. This happens in reaction to stimuli generated by viral replication in the cells that induce cytokine gene expression, or the presence of virus or bacteria interacting with the cell membrane or cytoplasm of cells that result in gene activation and expression that triggers cytokine production (Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000). Cytokines produced and released during infection are grouped in various ways, for instance according to a kinetic or functional role as early or late cytokines, proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory as well as innate or adaptive (Mandal, 2019; Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000; Zhang and An, 2007).

Among the early cytokines we find interferon-alpha (IFN- α), interleukin-1 (IL-1), tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), IL-6 and IL-8. Non-immune cells produce these cytokines at the site of infection and they generate a local inflammatory response (Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000). Late cytokines are a result of the recognition of antigens on the surface of antigen-presenting cells and are produced by T-cells. These cytokines are essential in the coordination and regulation of the adaptive immune response and consist of cytokines such

as IL-10, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5 and IFN-γ (Abbas and Lichtman, 2003, as cited in Rigbe, 2020; Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000).

It has been found that proinflammatory cytokines remain mostly at the site of production. In pulmonary infections production of cytokines takes place in the lung, the plasma concentration of cytokines have been found to be low or even undetectable, suggesting that cytokines produced during early infection in the lung only cross the blood-alveolar barrier in very small amounts to enter the circulation (Baarsch et al., 1995; Nelson et al., 1989). At the level of the lungs, the most potent effect exerted by the early cytokines are on the phagocytic cells (Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000).

TNF- α is a proinflammatory cytokine that recruits neutrophils and macrophages to the site of early infection and it plays an important role in acute inflammation. TNF- α and IL-1 stimulate the production of chemotactic cytokines that brings neutrophils to the site of infection by migration and they upregulate the expression of ICAM-1, E-selectin and Pselectin on vascular endothelium aiding in the extravasation of neutrophils (Strieter et al., 1993; Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000; Zhang and An, 2007).

IL-1 and TNF- α may have a stimulating effect on the function of neutrophils. Studies conducted with TNF- α added to porcine neutrophils showed degranulation, an increase in phagocytosis and respiratory burst activity (Coe et al., 1993; Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000). Non-specific antiviral effects are seen from TNF- α , IFN- α and IL-1. All of them are pyrogenic, and have been seen to cause fever when injected intramuscularly in rabbits (Dinarello et al., 1986; Van Reeth and Nauwynck, 2000). Catabolic effects on muscle cells and body reserves of fat are seen in chronic exposure to TNF- α . Clinically this is seen as wasting and cachexia. Calves exposed to prolonged treatment with TNF- α showed a decrease in body fat deposits (Ohmann et al., 1989).

The response of proinflammatory cytokines is controlled by the anti-inflammatory cytokines that act immunoregulatory. The immune response is carried out according to the signals generated by cytokines, specific cytokines inhibitors and their receptors (Zhang and An, 2007). IL-4, IL-10, IL-11, IL-13 and TGF- β are all important anti-inflammatory cytokines. IL-10 is a cytokine with a potent anti-inflammatory effect. It suppresses the expression of IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α that are activated by macrophages and act as mediators of inflammation. IL-10 is also capable of down-regulating proinflammatory, as well as up-

regulating anti-cytokine receptors within the organism. This gives IL-10 the opportunity to regulate proinflammatory cytokine response on many different levels (Zhang and An, 2007).

IL-10 as a cytokine of the adaptive immune system plays an important role in the limitation and termination of inflammatory responses. Furthermore, it inhibits the activation of T-cells, macrophages and monocytes and regulates the growth and differentiation of B-cells, natural killer cells (NK), cytotoxic- and helper T-cells among others (Moore et al., 2001). Inhibitory effects are seen on TNF production and this appears crucial for the anti-inflammatory activities carried out by IL-10, as these two work synergistically on inflammatory processes and pathways (Moore et al., 2001). A study conducted on mice showed that increased levels of IL-10 leads to impaired T-cell response (Brooks et al., 2006).

IL-10 acts to limit the damage of tissues caused by innate and adaptive immune cells during the process of inflammation. It is increasing evidence suggesting that viruses use this immunoregulatory mechanism carried out by IL-10 to suppress and create a tolerance to promote viral replication and survival in the host (Rojas et al., 2017; Suradhat et al., 2003). IL-10 administration iv. in pigs suffering from experimentally induced myocardial infarct showed a decrease in post-infarct inflammatory response, less extensive oedema and inflammatory cell infiltration of the injured tissues (Sendra et al., 2019).

TGF- β can act as a pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokine and is produced by platelets, neutrophils, macrophages and B- and T-cells. The cytokine has 3 isoforms, but TGF- β 1 is the one predominantly involved with the immune system and possess similar immunoregulatory functions as IL-10 (Gómez-Laguna et al., 2012; Renukaradhya et al., 2010; Silva-Campa et al., 2009). Its activity as a promoter or inhibitor of inflammation vary and depend on the circumstances (Tizard, 2012 p. 521; Zhang and An, 2007). It is activated upon binding to integrins on the cell surface and act on macrophages, neutrophils, B- and Tcells as well as dendritic cells. The main activity of TGF- β is the regulation of macrophages, it can both simulate and inhibit, this is dependent on the activity of other cytokines. TGF- β has an effect on B- and T-cell activation and function by inhibiting proliferation and inducing apoptosis. It also exerts effect on macrophages in the regulation of integrin expression, phagocytosis and cytotoxicity, where the latter is reduced, and the others increased by TGF- β activation. It has an immunosuppressive effect, like IL-10 and aid in the regulation of cell division (Tizard, 2012 p. 218 and 521). Intramuscular injection of TGF- β in rats, by means of adenovirus-mediated gene transfer in recipients, reduce the rate of acute lung rejection after transplantation (Suda et al., 2001).

2.2.1 TNF-α detection in the lungs of PRRSV infected pigs

Recently more studies are being carried out on the response of the immune system, especially the cytokine involvement during viral infection. TNF- α as mentioned previously has been studied and the detection, quantification, and role in PRRSV infection are of interest to better understand the defense mechanisms involved during early infection with PRRSV.

López-Fuertes et al. (2000) did a study on porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM) collected by means of alveolar lavage from 3-week-old healthy piglets. PAM incubated with PRRSV showed a decrease in the expression of TNF- α mRNA by use of RT-PCR. They also saw a slight and reproducible reduction in viral replication when recombinant porcine TNF- α was added to PAM cultures. Based on these findings they concluded that PRRSV-infected macrophages showed a reduced capacity to produce proinflammatory cytokines. A similar anti-viral response produced by the virus on PAM was also seen in another study conducted by RT-PCR (Zhang et al., 2012). Both concluded based on their results that TNF- α response was weak as a result of PRRSV infection (López-Fuertes et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2012).

Van Reeth et al. (1999) conducted a study on early cytokine production in piglets being experimentally infected with the Lelystad strain intratracheally at 3–4 weeks of age. PRRSV infected piglets were euthanized between 3 and 10 days post-inoculation. Neither control nor infected piglets had detectable levels of TNF- α when BAL samples were analyzed that were collected between day 3 and 10 after inoculation. They concluded that this strain didn't provoke a massive immune response that led to damage of the airways or gross pathology of the lung. Due to the mild respiratory pathology seen they suggested this strain could be causing subclinical infection only, and that these infections "frequently pass without being noticed" (Van Reeth et al., 1999).

A study was done on 5 commercial pig lines intended to investigate the innate immune response to PRRSV infection using a H2 isolate. Among the breeds used were landrace, which interestingly showed a delayed response to PRRSV infection with significantly increased levels of TNF- α secretion. This study was carried out *in vitro* on porcine pulmonary macrophages obtained by bronchoalveolar lavage. These findings may suggest that there is also genetic differences that play a role in the responsiveness to PRRSV (Ait-

Ali et al., 2007). Yet another study also carried out on PAM *in vitro* using a Taiwan isolate (tw91) initially showed a decrease in the secretion of TNF- α up until 36 hours post infection, then the level of TNF- α started increasing, at 48-72 hours post infection there was an 26-33% increase respectively (Chiou et al., 2000).

Lungs of piglets infected with a Korean isolate (SNUVR970501) of PRRSV was investigated by means of *in situ* hybridization. Positive hybridization signals for TNF- α mRNA was detected as early as day 1 post infection up until day 10 post infection. Numbers used to score the estimated number of cytokines in the lung tissue peaked at day 5 and 7 post infection. Cells resembling macrophages were the ones expressing TNF- α , and expression of the cytokine was minimal in areas of the lung without lesions. Sections examined from the non-infected control group showed no hybridization signal for TNF- α . They write in their article that "the results strongly suggest that these cytokines are important mediators in the pathophysiology of PRRSV infection" (Choi et al., 2002).



Figure 2: Lung from PRRSV infected pig 7dpi. Showing positive hybridization signals for TNF- α in the alveolar septa. Methylene green counterstain x 200 (Choi et al., 2002, p.

110).

Use of digital gene expression tag profiling (DGE) showed an upregulation of genes coding for TNF- α in pigs infected with a highly virulent strain of PRRSV. The study was conducted on 6-week-old piglets that had been taken from a high-health commercial Chinese farm. Piglets were experimentally infected with a highly pathogenic strain of PRRSV that caused major outbreaks of the so called "high fever" disease in China and Vietnam in 2006 and 2007. Piglets were euthanized 96 and 168 hours post infection. Their study found that expression of TNF- α seemed to be continuously upregulated when looking at mRNA and protein levels analyzed with ELISA from serum samples. The author concluded that their data suggested that the severe pulmonary lesions caused by this highly virulent H-PRRSV infection was caused partially by the significant upregulation and production of TNF- α (Xiao et al., 2010).

Immunohistochemistry was used to detect proinflammatory cytokines during PRRSV infection in a study done by Amarilla et al. (2015). The researchers used 65 male piglets all at the age of 7 weeks at time of inoculation, originating from a specific pathogen-free farm in the Netherlands. Four strains of PRRSV were used in the experiment, Lelystad virus-Ter Huurne (LV), prototype PRRSV strain 215-06, SU1-bel and the attenuated vaccine strain (DV). The first two being low-pathogenic strains and SU1-bel being a highly pathogenic strain. The last animals were euthanized on day 35 post infection. They detected increased levels of TNF- α 7 days post infection with a higher expression in the piglets infected with LV and SU1-bel, compared to the DV group. There was no significant difference for the group infected with the 215-06 strain. Interestingly on day 35 the piglets infected with the low pathogenic strain LV had a higher expression of TNF- α in the lungs compared to SU1-bel and the ones infected with the 215-06 strain.

2.2.2 IL-10 detection in the lungs of PRRSV infected pigs

To better understand the role of the adaptive immune system in the clearance or progression of PRRSV infection cytokine involvement is investigated. Interleukin-10 presents as the main contributor; hence detection and quantification of this anti-inflammatory cytokine have been devoted more attention in the past decade.

Different immune cells have been used in studies for the replication of PRRSV during experiments, both porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM) and dendritic cells (DCs) are widely used.

A study was done on 4–5-week-old piglets experimentally infected intranasally with the Lelystad strain of PRRSV. BAL samples were used to detect IL-10 by means of ELISA. Infected piglets were euthanized between 1- and 52-days post infection with PRRSV. Their findings showed that IL-10 was detected already at day 5 post infection and reached a maximum of 139 pg/mL at 9 days post infection. Levels decreased and stayed low at 8–17 pg/mL until day 25 of the experiment (Labarque et al., 2003).

IL-10 mRNA has been found to be significantly upregulated in PRRSV infected porcine alveolar macrophages when compared to non-infected cells with a peak at 48 hours post infection. The study was done on PAM cells, obtained from a healthy PRRSV negative pig by bronchoalveolar lavage post mortem. IL-10 mRNA was detected using real-time quantitative RT-PCR every 12 hours post infection up until 48 hours (Zhang et al., 2012). Another study was also carried out by means of RT-PCR. 40 piglets aged 3 days were experimentally infected with a North American genotype (isolate SNUVR970501). The aim of the research was to prove the expression of IL-10 in the lungs post infection. Interleukin-10 mRNA was found to be persistently detected in the lungs from day 1 post infection up to day 28, with the group of negative control pigs failing to produce the same expression of IL-10 (Chung and Chae, 2003).

In the same study done by Chung and Chae (2003) *in situ* hybridization was also used to detect signals for IL-10. They noted an increase in IL-10 signals from day 3 to day 7 post infection, gradually decreasing from day 14 until the end of the study at day 28. The distribution within the lung of cells showing positive signals for IL-10 was patchy to multifocal and in connection with areas being affected by inflammation (Chung and Chae, 2003). Results from a different study reveal similar findings, that IL-10 was detected in higher numbers in areas with gross pulmonary lesions (Amarilla et al., 2015).



Figure: 3 Lung sample from piglet 7 dpi, showing positive hybridization signals for IL-10 in alveolar septa (black). Methyl green counterstain x 200 (Chung and Chae, 2003, p. 208). On the other hand, another study on IL-10 expression *in vitro* do not show the same upregulation of interleukin-10 mRNA. This study was carried out on monocyte-derived

dendritic cells (DCs) originating from peripheral blood of a healthy sow infected with the SD-23983 PRRSV strain. DCs act as important antigen presenting cells as a part of the antiviral response that bridge between the innate and adaptive immune reactions to pathogens. ELISA was performed 24- and 48 hours post infection and IL-10 showed no obvious increase in PRRSV infected cells, compared to the uninfected control cells (Wang et al., 2007). Other results were obtained from a study carried out *in vitro* with DCs showing a significant increase in the upregulation of IL-10 when exposed to PRRSV, both when using immature and mature dendritic cells in the experimental setup and by means of ELISA or RT-PCR for cytokine measurement (Chang et al., 2008; Flores-Mendoza et al., 2008; Peng et al., 2009).

The reason for the contradictory results when looking at both TNF- α and IL-10 up- or downregulation in response to PRRSV infection is believed to depend upon multiple variables, for instance on the strain of PRRSV used. A study done by Gimeno et al. (2011) aimed to map the different cytokine profiles elicited by infection with different variants of PRRSV. They tested all together 39 isolates, all members of PRRSV 1, namely *Betaarterivirus suid* 1 (Gimeno et al., 2011; Gorbalenya et al., 2018).

Their study showed significant differences in the cytokine response after testing each isolate in four different cell systems, PAM, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDC) and SwC3⁺ blood mononuclear cells. They concluded that their study "primarily revealed that every cell type has a different sensitivity in terms of the cytokine response against PRRSV", with BMDC and SwC3⁺ blood mononuclear cells showing the most efficient cytokine production. Their most surprising finding however was that "all four possible cytokine inducing phenotypes for IL-10 and TNF-alpha were detected (from negative-negative to positive-positive". Giving us an idea of the major differences in the cytokine profiles that can be expected within the same viral genotype in response to infection (Gimeno et al., 2011).

2.2.3 TGF-β detection in the lungs of PRRSV infected pigs

Both TGF- β and IL-10 can downregulate the immune response and act as immunomodulatory cytokines (Letterio and Roberts, 1998). There are limited studies carried out on the involvement of TGF- β in PRRSV infections, but there is reason to believe it might play a role in the ability of the virus to avoid getting eliminated by the host immune system

and aid in the prolonged viraemia that is typically seen in infected pigs (Darwich et al., 2010).

Detection of TGF- β in porcine lungs were done by Gómez-Laguna et al. (2012). 28 fiveweek-old piglets were experimentally infected with field isolate 2982 intramuscularly. Euthanasia was performed at different time points between 3- and 24-days post inoculation. Immunohistochemistry was performed to detect PRRSV and TGF- β , where viral antigen was found to be mostly present in PAMs and septal macrophages. PRRSV was detectable in lung tissue from day 3 post inoculation, reaching a peak at day 7. TGF- β expression reached a maximum on day 3 and decreased thereafter. Inside the cells TGF- β was found to be in the cytoplasm of PAMs, septal macrophages, lymphocytes and neutrophil granulocytes. It is also interesting that the same study investigated serum samples from the same individuals, and there were no detectable levels of TGF- β found. This despite that the cytokine was detected in the lung samples of the infected pigs, but not in mock infected pigs. The research group concluded that their results showed a significant correlation between the presence of viral antigen and expression of TGF- β in the lungs, and it is suggested that PRRSV replication in the lung has a direct effect on the production of TGF- β .





Results from a study done *in vitro* suggest that PRRSV raised the number of T regulatory cells that produced TGF- β (Silva-Campa et al., 2009). This can give clues as to the role of TGF- β and that it might be expressed in higher numbers during PRRS infection for the virus to escape the detection and elimination by immune cells during early phase of the disease.

A research group investigated what would happen if TGF- β was silenced during PRRSV infection. Even though the study was conducted *in vitro* on PRRSV infected PBMCs, their results suggest increased viability of infected cells and a significant reduction in viral replication when TGF- β expression was inhibited. They also stated that a knockdown of the TGF- β expression lead to a better responsiveness by the immune system, noted by an increase in expression of proinflammatory cytokines (Wang et al., 2019).

2.3 Regulated cell death

Another method of host defense, alongside the production of cytokines in response to viral infection, include regulated cell death (RCD). To fight against the viral agent as a part of the innate response, RCD are important processes carried out to limit viral replication as well as destroy already infected cells (Orzalli and Kagan, 2017).

Cell death can be classified into two distinct groups based on functional aspects. According to the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death (NCCD) these are accidental cell death (ACD) and regulated cell death (RCD). Further I will focus only on the RCD, more specifically on intrinsic- and extrinsic apoptosis. RCD is controlled by means of strict signaling cascades that uses transduction molecules for activation. To clarify, RCD is termed programmed cell death (PCD) when taking place during physiological conditions (Galluzzi et al., 2018).

Intrinsic apoptosis is initiated by damage to the DNA and other cellular stressors and carried out by activation of caspases. This process starts with mitochondrial membrane permeabilization (MOMP) that enables cytochrome c to move from the inner mitochondrial membrane through the outer membrane into the cell cytoplasm. Once in the cytoplasm cytochrome c attaches to the apoptotic protease-activating factor-1 (APAF-1) and the two together form the apoptosome that first activate caspase-9 (CASP9) that again goes on to activate caspase-3 (CASP3). This initiates the cellular process and morphological changes characteristic for apoptosis. These include shrinkage of the cell followed by nuclear pyknosis and karyorrhexis, chromatin condensation and nuclear fragmentation. The final result is that the cell disintegrates into small vesicles called apoptotic bodies that in turn are phagocytosed by other cells, mostly by macrophages (Chipuk et al., 2006; Von Ahsen et al., 2000).

Extrinsic apoptosis is carried out with the help of membrane receptors. The pathway is stimulated by cytokines, for instance TNF- α . Two common death receptors are CD95 and

TNFR. These death cell receptors contain a death domain which is a sequence of amino acids found in the cytoplasm. Activation of death receptors happens via ligands, that that are mostly located on cytotoxic T-cells. After ligand binding to the death receptor, proteins will be assembled to create DISC. In turn this complex will activate CASP8 and CASP10 and initiate apoptosis (Tizard, 2012 p. 191).

Viral pathogens have proved able to alter the regulation of apoptosis. Dysregulation, both up and down regulation of apoptosis might be favorable to the virus. Viruses have developed methods to hinder apoptosis during early stages of infection, this helps the virus complete its replication cycle and ensures progeny production. When viral replication is successfully carried out inside the cell, several viruses are known to trigger apoptosis and subsequently the death of the infected cell. This process is beneficial for the virus because it aids in the release and assembly of the newly created viral progenies, and it can also help with the spread without inducing inflammation (Best and Bloom, 2004; Carthy et al., 2003; Fadok et al., 2001; Teodoro and Branton, 1997; Thomson, 2001).

Galluzzi et al. (2008) suggest that viruses can be classified into four different categories based on the way they interfere with the regulation of apoptosis. The first group of viruses possess proapoptotic proteins that alter mitochondrial membrane permeabilization when attaching to the mitochondrial membrane. The second category indirectly activate mitochondrial membrane permeabilization or uses other antiapoptotic modulators. In the third group we find viruses that have structures or sequences showing similarities with the Bcl-2 family proteins found in the outer mitochondrial membrane and lastly the fourth category is composed of viruses that prevent apoptosis in other ways, for example the ASFV that inhibit apoptosis by means of blocking the effect of CASP3 (Dixon et al., 2017). Hence the first two categories are methods used by viruses to activate-, and the last two to inhibit apoptosis.

Other pathways suggested to be involved in the regulation of apoptosis during PRRSV infection include oxidative stress, P53, JNK, autophagy and UPR (Fan, 2019).

2.3.1 Methods detecting apoptosis

Studies related to PRRSV and induction of apoptosis is an interesting area of research that can help us to better understand the pathogenesis of the viral infection. There are several methods used to detect apoptosis in experimental setups, for instance TUNEL assay, electron microscopy, fluorescence staining, detection of DNA fragmentation by means of gel electrophoresis, western blotting, flow cytometry, caspase detection and by measuring the mitochondrial membrane potential amongst others (Martinez et al., 2010).

A study done *in vitro* on PRRSV infected MARC-145 cells showed DNA fragmentation 48 and 60 hours post infection when compared to mock infected cells using ELISA. DNA fragmentation is a marker used to detect late stages of apoptosis. The same study also detected early stages of apoptosis by detecting the translocation of PS on the leaflet of the plasma membrane by using annexin V staining, a type of fluorescence followed by flow cytometry. Their results concluded that early apoptosis could be seen in virus infected cells at 48- and 60 hours post infection (Lee and Kleiboeker, 2007).

2.4 Pro- and anti-apoptotic pathway activation by PRRSV

2.4.1 Induction of apoptosis

PRRSV has proven capable, mostly during *in vitro* experiments, to induce pro-apoptotic pathway activation. I will try to focus mainly on the experiments carried out *in vivo* on lung tissue samples.

A study done by Sur et al. (1998) found that during PRRSV infection there was evidence of apoptosis. They detected this by means of TUNEL and DNA electrophoresis and they also detected the presence of viral antigen by means of immunohistochemical methods. The results indicated that PRRSV negative cells in the lung were the ones showing the highest incidence of apoptosis, a so called bystander effect, a phenomenon where apoptosis is seen in neighboring uninfected cells (Sur et al., 1998).

Sirinarumitr et al. (1998) conducted a study on piglets experimentally infected with ATCC VR2385 strain of PRRSV that were euthanized at 1,3,5 and 10 dpi. They used TUNEL assay in situ and ultrastructural morphology to investigate apoptosis in the infected lungs. Dual labelling was performed to detect whether apoptotic cells were indeed infected or bystander cells. They also concluded like the previously mentioned research group that the apoptotic cells were almost exclusively uninfected cells.

An attempt was made to detect apoptosis together with TNF- α in lung tissue samples using a combination of TUNEL assay and immunohistochemistry labelling. The isolate used was SNUVR970501, introduced intranasally to 3-day old piglets. Euthanasia found place on day 1, 3,5 and 7 post inoculation. Their results showed that apoptosis could be detected as early as 1 dpi, with the highest number of apoptotic cells detected at day 5, decreasing by day 7. Double labelling concluded that cells were either positive for PRRSV or apoptosis, and that positivity for both did only occur in very few cells. Similarly, overall, cells showed positive signals for either TNF- α or PRRSV and those cells found to be positive for TNF- α were mostly confirmed to be macrophages (Choi and Chae, 2002).

Whether PRRSV could induce apoptosis in the porcine lung was also studied in 4–5 week old piglets infected with the Lelystad strain. Inoculation of the virus was done intranasally and piglets were euthanized on selected days starting at day 1, where the last piglets were put down at day 52. Tissue samples were harvested from the lungs and BAL samples were also obtained from all piglets. Both the lung and the BAL cells were evaluated for the presence of viral antigen and signs of apoptosis. Additionally, detection of IL-10 and TNF- α was carried out on the BAL samples. Similarly, apoptosis was found to be present in both PRRSV infected and non-infected cells, the latter accounting for more than 99% of detected apoptotic cells in the lung. Amongst apoptotic cells macrophages and monocytes were the mostly represented. TUNEL assay was used on both BAL and lung samples. Infected apoptotic cells in the lungs between days 5 and 25 post infection were found to be between 9-39 %, and in BAL samples the numbers ranged from 13-30% from day 3 to 25. A peak of IL-10 was noticed at day 9 followed by the highest measurement of apoptotic cells at day 14 post infection (Labarque et al., 2003).

Lee and Kleiboeker (2007) demonstrated by help of a colorimetric method the detection of activated CASP8 and CASP9 in PRRSV infected MARC-145 cells were both caspases were seen to have an increase in activity from 48 hours post infection. Their number was two-fold that of mock infected cells at 60 hours pi. Since CASP9 and CASP8 activate the intrinsic and extrinsic pathway respectively, by in turn activating CASP3 which act as the executioner of the apoptotic process, they also measured the level of activated CASP3. They found CASP3 to be at elevated 48- and 60-hours pi, at the latter measurement as much as 4-fold higher than in control cells. They concluded that PRRSV infection stimulate the activation of CASP3, 8 and 9 that are key elements in both the extrinsic and the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis. At 60 hours pi they also found with the help of IFA, that there was a rise in expression of TNFR-1 and FasL in infected cells. Further linking the involvement of the extrinsic pathway in the PRRSV associated apoptosis. In their study most cells undergoing apoptosis at 48- and 60 h post-infection were virus positive cells.

Research carried out by Sánchez-Carvajal et al. (2021) noted apoptosis in situ by means of TUNEL assay on lung samples obtained from piglets infected with two different subtypes of PRRSV intranasally. Both a virulent and a low-virulent strain were used, namely the Lena strain and field isolate 3249 respectively. The study lasted 13 days, and piglets were euthanized at different timepoints post inoculation. Their result detected DNA fragmentation with the peak of positive labelling at day 8 post infection for both strains, but piglets infected with the virulent strain showed a higher number of positive signals compared to the lowvirulent strain already at day 3 pi. The positive signals were detected in PAMs, PIMs and interstitial macrophages. The same study investigated caspase expression by means of immunohistochemistry assays, and CASP3 was found to be significantly higher in both the infected groups compared to the mock infected piglets. Lena infected piglets showed a peak at day 8 whereas the 3249-infected piglets had a peak of CASP3 at day 13 pi. CASP8 was found to be at its maximum at day 8 in Lena infected piglets and interestingly in the 3249infected group the levels stayed below that of the mock infected group until it suddenly increased at day 13 pi. CASP9 was showing a slight rise from day 8 until the termination of the study at day 13 in both groups, with Lena infected piglet's having a slightly higher incidence of positive cells. These results indicate the involvement of both the extrinsic and the intrinsic pathway in the PRRSV induced apoptosis.

2.4.2 Inhibition of apoptosis

A study conducted on PAMs and MARC-145 cells showed interesting results looking at possible anti-apoptotic effect of PRRSV during early stages of viral infection. Cells were infected with the prototype European Lelystad strain, and the researchers tried to induce apoptosis at different time points post infection by help of staurosporine, an agent use to induce apoptosis across a wide variety of cell types. Before initiating the apoptosis, the completion of the viral replication cycle was determined by analyzing the intra- and extracellular virus titers, it was found to be increased in both cell types from 12 hours pi indicating the release of new virus from the cells at this time point. For macrophages the extracellular virus titers where higher than for the MARC-145 infected cells and it was concluded that release of the virus was more efficient in PAMs. Keeping in mind that new virus was detected extracellularly after 12 hours pi infected cells were treated with the apoptosis inducing agent at 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8 and 12 hours pi in PAMs. Results showed that compared to mock cells, there was no significant reduction in apoptosis at 2 and 3 hours post

infection, but at 4, 5, 6, 8 hours pi a significant reduction of apoptosis was seen. In infected cells, percentages of cells showing signs of apoptosis reduced significantly, ranging from 13,3–24.8% at different time points post infection compared to 68.2–74.0% at the same time points in uninfected cells treated with the apoptotic agent. 12h pi the infected cells no longer showed protection against the apoptotic agent. Similar results were obtained from the MARC-145 infected cells (Costers et al., 2008).

2.5 Cellular lung damage

2.5.1 Gross and microscopic lung pathology

Lesions seen in lungs of PRRSV infected pigs vary and depend on the virulence of the strain causing disease (Wensvoort et al., 1991). Some virulent strains can cause severe and extensive destruction of the lung tissue whereas other low-virulent strains can go unnoticed as subclinical infections. During field conditions many virulent PRRSV infections are complicated by secondary bacterial infections and other viral diseases. This further diversifies the lesions seen as compared to what can be observed in studies carried out under experimental conditions (Amadori and Razzuoli, 2014).

Gross pathology of lungs infected with PRRSV has been described by several researchers. Morgan et al. (2016) found that interstitial pneumonia results in lungs that fail to collapse with mottled tan areas having a rubbery consistency. It is reported elsewhere that the color of the lungs can vary from tan to dark red-purple. Edema can be mild to severe where separation of the lobules can be observed. If caused by a highly virulent strain, there might also be hemorrhages visible. Interstitial pneumonia following infection vary in severity and distribution are mostly seen in cranioventral lung lobes, but lesions can also be diffuse affecting the entire lung (Zimmerman et al., 2019). Morgan et al. (2016) also concluded that the apical lung lobe was the most affected area based on macroscopic pathological findings.



Figure 5: Gross lung pathology showing characteristic interstitial pneumonia 13 dpi in mock-, low- and highly virulent infected pigs with PRRSV. White arrows show consolidated areas in the cranioventral and middle lung lobes (Sánchez-Carvajal et al., 2021, p. 5).

2.5.2 Pneumocytes

Pneumocytes exist in the lung as type 1 and type 2. Type 1 pneumocytes are sensitive to injury, for instance by cytokines produced during acute inflammation in the lung. When injured, these type 1 pneumocytes swell and vacuolization can be seen. Once injured they detach from the basement membrane and during this process alveolar edema develops due to an increase in alveolar permeability. Because of this proteins, plasma and fibrin accumulate in the alveolar space. Under physiological circumstances this fluid is cleared quite quickly by lymphatic and alveolar absorption as well as phagocytosis of sloughed cells by alveolar macrophages. Type 2 pneumocytes as precursor cells that can replace the lost type 1 pneumocytes by undergoing mitosis and differentiation into new mature type 1 pneumocytes (Zachary, 2017 p. 478-480). During the course of type 2 pneumocytes replacing the injured type 1 pneumocytes proliferation leads to significant thickening of the alveolar walls (Beyer et al., 2000; Zachary, 2017 p. 521).

Infection with PRRSV induces hypertrophy and hyperplasia in type 2 pneumocytes (Amarilla et al., 2015; Beyer et al., 2000; Chung and Chae, 2003). A study done on type 2 pneumocyte proliferation after infection with a subtype 1 virulent field isolate showed increased numbers of type 2 pneumocytes from day 10 pi. These cells were still present in higher numbers at the end of the study at 21 pi (Balka et al., 2013). Thickening of the alveolar wall is also documented after infection with PRRSV, partially due to the proliferation of type 2 pneumocytes (Nazki et al., 2020). When piglets of different age groups suffering from

PRRSV was examined, type 2 pneumocyte proliferation was seen in weaners as the lowest age group (Darbès et al., 1996).



Figure 6: Identification of type 2 pneumocytes in control and PRRSV infected lungs of pigs. "(A) TTF-1 labelling of control lung. (B) TTF-1 labelling of infected lung". Bars, 50 µm (Balka et al., 2013, p. 327).

2.5.3 Mononuclear infiltration of the septa

It is a common finding in articles where researchers have conducted histopathological investigations on lung tissue or analysis of BAL samples in relation to PRRSV infection that mononuclear cell infiltration of the alveolar septa is mentioned. To clarify when mononuclear cells are mentioned, I refer to lymphocytes, plasma cells and macrophages. One of the circulating hypotheses regarding the significant septal cellular infiltration seen after the first week of infection with PRRSV has to do with the replacement of macrophages by cells from the monocyte/macrophage lineage. It is believed that following destruction of the alveolar macrophages by means of apoptosis (or necrosis) after PRRSV replication, these cells seen infiltrating the septa is an attempt to replace the declining cell population of PAMs as a way of restoring balance and homeostasis by the host body (Labarque et al., 2000).



Figure 7: Lung from PRRSV infected pig 7 dpi, thickening of alveolar septa by infiltration of mononuclear cells. HE. x400 (Choi et al., 2002, p. 109).

Other opinions are that these cells are attracted to the lungs by the mediators of inflammation, for example by cytokines produced by macrophages infected with the virus, and that this leads to a strong influx of mononuclear cells in the lung tissue (Van Reeth et al., 1999). This hypothesis is supported by the findings of Gómez-Laguna et al. (2010), that experienced an increase in the expression of local cytokines in the lung, among these TNF- α . They concluded that "there is a direct correlation between this expression and the infiltration of the pulmonary interstitium by macrophages" (Gómez-Laguna et al., 2010).

Histopathological lesions in weaners infected with PRRSV describes diffuse infiltration of the alveolar walls by mononuclear cells and infiltration of the interlobular septa with lymphocytes and plasma cells (Darbès et al., 1996).

During experiments conducted *in vivo* on lung tissue and BAL samples, results showed that from day 9 to 52 pi there was a two- to fivefold increase in the cellular content of the BAL samples, reaching a peak at day 25 pi. The cell fractions obtained from the BAL samples after analysis reviled that 55–92% of the cells were of monocyte/macrophage lineage, 1-15% neutrophile granulocytes and 6–31% were non-phagocytes, presumably lymphocytes (Labarque et al., 2000).



Figure 8: B: "from control (left), 3249 (middle) and Lena (right) infected pigs euthanized at 13 dpi (H&E; bars 50 µm)" (Sánchez-Carvajal et al., 2021, p. 5). Histopathology shows characteristic interstitial pneumonia with thickened alveolar septa, in Lena infected lungs foci of suppurative bronchopneumonia can also be seen (arrowhead).

2.5.4 Necrotic debris, perivascular and interalveolar accumulation of inflammatory cells

Following injury to the type 1 and 2 pneumocytes during the course of acute interstitial pneumonia that develops from the PRRSV infection, a disruption in the blood-air barrier as mentioned previously leads to the filling of the alveolar lumen with protein rich fluid. In addition to this, alveolar walls become thick due to the edema resulting from the inflammation and neutrophil granulocytes infiltrating the alveolar interstitium (Zachary, 2017 p. 521).

Consequently, because of the release of proinflammatory cytokines by PRRSV infected macrophages more inflammatory cells are recruited to the lungs during acute inflammation. During this process cell lysis is seen because of the enzymes and mediators released. Neutrophil granulocytes, edema fluid and necrotic cell debris collect in the alveoli after cells are killed off by enzymes released from the inflammatory cells (Zachary, 2017 p. 210). Characteristic filling of the alveoli with proteinaceous and karyorrhectic debris is a common finding in PRRSV infected lungs of pigs (Rossow, 1998). Cells found in the alveolar space is usually a combination of macrophages, neutrophile granulocytes, lymphocytes and necrotic cells that display signs of nuclear changes such as pyknosis or free chromatin (Gomez et al., 2018).



Figure 9: Inflammatory cells accumulating in the alveolar space in PRRSV infected porcine lungs. HE. Bars, 50 µm (Balka et al., 2013, p. 326).

The finding of perivascular cuffing is another lesion that is frequently seen in the lung of infected pigs. Lymphocytes and plasma cells are mostly responsible for this histopathological finding during PRRSV infection (Zimmerman et al., 2019 p. 695). During the inflammatory processes lymphocytes arrive within the first 24–48h from the onset of acute inflammation in response to stimuli such as cytokines, and these cells will often gather around blood vessels (Zachary, 2017 p. 113). Periarteriolar accumulation of plasma cells and lymphocytes were seen in weaners infected with PRRSV (Darbès et al., 1996).



Figure 10: PRRSV infected lung tissue obtained from a weaner, stained with giemsa showing perivascular lymphoplasmacytic infiltration. BAR 25 μm (Darbès et al., 1996, p. 358).

Histopathological findings are many times evaluated using the above-mentioned characteristics to determine the severity of the lesion in question. Lungs are typically given a score, and finally a total overall score is calculated. Jung et al. (2007) have suggested a scoring system: " (i) thickening of alveolar septa by infiltration of inflammatory leukocytes, principally mononuclear cells, and type 2 pneumocyte hypertrophy and hyperplasia (ranging from 0 to 6, where 0 is normal appearance, 1 is mild focal or multifocal, 2 is mild diffuse, 3 is moderate focal or multifocal, 4 is moderately severe, 5 is severe focal or multifocal, and 6 is severe diffuse interstitial pneumonia); (ii) accumulation of necrotic cells and inflammatory leukocytes in alveolar and bronchiolar lumina due to airway epithelial necrosis (ranging from 0 to 3, where 0 is normal appearance and 3 is severe); and (iii) peribronchiolar or perivascular lymphohistiocytic inflammation (ranging from 0 to 3, where 0 is normal appearance and 3 is severe). This system and modified versions of this is widely used to determine the severity of pulmonary lesions and damage following infection with PRRSV.

When investigating a virulent strain, VR-2385 Sirinarumitr et al. (1998) described moderate multifocal interstitial pneumonia, occurring 3–5 days post infection that turned into severe diffuse interstitial pneumonia 10 days post infection. Lesions accompanying the interstitial pneumonia was infiltration of the septa with a mixture of mononuclear cells, hypertrophy, and hyperplasia of type 2 pneumocytes and in the alveolar space accumulation of macrophages that were both necrotic and of normal in appearance.

The Lelystad strain, which is a low-virulent strain produced thickening of the alveolar septa, hypertrophy, and hyperplasia of type 2 pneumocytes and necrotic and apoptotic debris together with macrophages were seen to fill the alveoli. Some animals also showed perivascular lymphohistiocytic cuffing (Amarilla et al., 2015). Lesions that can be observed following PRRSV infection overlap between the different strains, but the severity is different between the virulent and low-virulent strains and a system made to grade it is necessary to categorize the pulmonary histological findings.

3. Discussion

PRRSV is a significant disease in the swine producing industry that can lead to subclinical disease accounting for poor production parameters in all pig producing facilities. It can lead to mortality or make the animal susceptible to secondary infections that can contribute to development of multifactorial diseases such as PRDC. Since the disease was discovered, a lot of research has been carried out to fully understand the pathogenesis and lesions detected during infection. There are still parts of the viral pathogenesis that are not fully understood, one of which is the ability of the virus to interfere with the production of different cytokines and if it can manipulate this production for its advantage.

Studies previously mentioned are somewhat contradictory when it comes to changes in the production of specific cytokines. We could see that TNF- α has shown to be both upregulated and downregulated during infection with PRRSV. It was hypothesized that viral infection reduced the ability of the infected cells to upregulate proinflammatory cytokine expression during the early stages of disease to reduce the inflammatory response and essentially detection and elimination by the host immune cells. In line with this prediction there were reports of weak TNF-α response, and also almost undetectable levels of the cytokine that seem to support this hypothesis (López-Fuertes et al., 2000; Van Reeth et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2012). At the same time, other authors presented evidence of increased expression of TNF- α (Ait-Ali et al., 2007; Choi et al., 2002; Xiao et al., 2010), but regarding these studies, the infection was carried out with a highly virulent strain of PRRSV as compared to the experiments reporting low or absent TNF- α expression that used strains of lower virulence. Although this might seem logical, Amarilla et al. (2015) found a low-virulent strain to cause a higher expression of TNF- α than a virulent one, leaving us unable to conclude if this is indeed a trend. Unfortunately, these articles are not able to give us clear answers to the cause of the low expressions reported by some research groups. Since this could on one hand be due to that these low virulence strains simply cannot elicit a strong enough response by the immune system resulting in higher levels of TNF- α production by the host or it could on the other hand indeed be the active work of the virus to regulate the expression and keep the proinflammatory cytokine production to a minimum.

When investigating anti-inflammatory cytokine expression we found that overall, the IL-10 and TGF- β expression be upregulated in PRRSV infected animals. Reports of increased levels of IL-10 (Amarilla et al., 2015; Chung and Chae, 2003; Zhang et al., 2012) and TGF- β (Gómez-Laguna et al., 2012) is also thought to be a way for the virus to escape detection and destruction by the immune system. It would be interesting in future challenges to block or silence the expression of both of these cytokines during PRRSV infection to see if one would witness a better and more efficient clearing of the viral disease by the host since it seems the virus upregulates these anti-inflammatory cytokines in order to stay hidden or to slow clearance and aid in the persistence of the virus in the host.

Apoptosis is always seen to some extent even in control animals when research is carried out due to this being a natural process that takes place also during physiological conditions. Apart from this, apoptosis is seen to be of higher prevalence in animals infected with PRRSV. Apoptosis can potentially be initiated directly by the viral replication in the susceptible cells or indirectly utilizing cytokines produced by infected cells that exert an apoptogenic effect in *bystander* cells. One of the cytokines that can trigger apoptosis is the TNF- α , and we have seen evidence that this cytokine can be found in higher levels, especially during infection with highly virulent strains of PRRSV, which might partially be the explanation for the severe lesions seen in the lungs of these animals. TNF- α produced by infected macrophages that act locally in the lung, inducing apoptosis in bystander cells was suggested in previous research to be the reason for cell death among uninfected cells seen in PRRSV infections (Choi ad Chae, 2002).

TUNEL assay and the detection of DNA fragmentation is a frequently applied method to detect apoptosis on tissue samples, and positive signals were described in the abovementioned studies. The drawback of using this test exclusively is that necrosis will also result in positive signals and it is not able to detect the early stages of the apoptotic process (Lee and Kleiboeker, 2007). Therefore, the need for more specific methods to detect more than just the end result of regulated cell death is needed when investigating PRRSV induced apoptosis.

Caspases are good indicators for apoptosis since they are not activated in necrosis (Cryns and Yuan, 1998). Although false predictions can be made when experiments are carried out *in vitro*, because in the host, apoptotic cells will be phagocytosed, but in cell cultures

apoptosis will be followed by secondary necrosis (Wu et al., 2001). Higher incidence of necrosis might be recorded that could differ if the experiment was conducted *in vivo*.

PRRSV can interfere with the activation of pro-apoptotic pathways. Focusing on the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways of apoptosis significant upregulation of both CASP8, CASP9 and the executioner CASP3 could be seen in infected cells along with positive TUNEL assays. Other viruses known to induce apoptosis via extrinsic and intrinsic pathways are human immunodeficiency virus and vesicular stomatitis virus respectively (Bartz and Emerman, 1999; Gadaleta et al., 2005). It is still to be determined if CASP9 activation is a result of CASP8 activation or if these two pathways are activated independently from each other. Lee and Kleiboeker (2007) also witnessed an increase in the expression of death receptors of the cell surface, and the ligation of these could also have been the cause of the increased CASP8 measured, resulting in apoptosis by the extrinsic pathway. Whether the intrinsic pathway is activated independently still needs further research, since crosstalk between the pathways can interfere with the results obtained.

There is a lack of studies investigating the anti-apoptotic properties of PRRSV, in fact, none that could be found by the author that was carried out *in vivo*. Costers et al. (2008) did produce results suggesting that PRRSV indeed can protect infected cells against apoptosis within a specific timeframe during viral replication under laboratory conditions, with the addition of apoptotic agents to cell cultures. It would be interesting to see if these findings could also apply for *in vivo* experiments, and if apoptosis is blocked by the virus during its replication in the infected cells and if this is a strategy used by the virus to successfully carry out viral progeny production. More research has been devoted to trying and explaining the reasons for the high incidence of apoptosis seen, and by what means this is initiated. The ability of the virus to actively block apoptosis in the first 12 h pi has been less studied.

A reasonable question is whether apoptosis is induced by the host as a protective mechanism or by the virus as a part of its pathogenesis. It seems that PRRSV can activate extrinsic, possibly also the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis and that this might be a way to efficiently release progeny after replication is carried out in susceptible cells. So, this can potentially be a strategy from the virus point of view. What we also have touched on is that most cells found to be apoptotic are uninfected, which is interesting since that doesn't directly favor the virus in any way having increased loss of healthy surrounding cells. The virus wasn't directly targeting these cells, but they still undergo apoptosis. It is suggested that this is due to the proinflammatory cytokines produced by the infected cells themselves in response to viral replication, acting on the neighboring cells and hence triggering their apoptosis. If this is a consequence of viral interference of cytokine production or a host defense mechanism is still unknown. A virus that is known to cause bystander apoptosis is the previously mentioned HIV (Garg and Joshi, 2017).

Pulmonary pathology seen in PRRSV is characteristic of interstitial pneumonia, but the severity of lesion very much varies. Gross pathology and histopathological lesions are seen to a lesser or greater extent, depending on the strain and genotype of the virus that caused the infection. In experimental conditions, this is highly regulated since experimentally infected animals usually don't harbor other viral or bacterial diseases. In field conditions, PRRSV is many times complicated by other pathogenic agents giving lesions a different appearance. The virulence of the strain plays a significant role in the development of pulmonary damage, and as discussed different stains also seemingly elicit different cytokine profiles, giving them different immunomodulatory capabilities, that will further decide the lung damage resulting from the infection. Apoptosis of infected macrophages in the lung and the denudation of the basement membrane resulting from apoptosis of bystander will conditions as well as the depletion of the alveolar macrophages. The release of cytokines, induction of apoptosis and lung damage is very much related, and further research should be conducted to understand the complexity and the interaction among them (Figure 11).





4. Conclusion

PRRSV and the viral interaction with the host are continuously under investigation. Since the specific mechanisms of pathogenesis are not yet fully understood it is of interest to map these events to prevent the disease from being one of the costliest agents affecting pig production. One of the main issues is the lack of uniformity when it comes to the investigation of cytokine involvement, occurrence and frequency of apoptosis as well as a description of pulmonary lesions. Most experiments differ in the experimental setup and the strain used for infection, which lead to results that are generally hard to compare even though they are conducted to investigate the same parameters. As we have seen pathogenesis and lesions very much depend on the isolate that is causing the infection.

Future studies should focus on the thorough investigation of PRRSV and its possible antiapoptotic properties, since the amount of research on this area is scarce. It is evident that PRRSV can induce cell death, but more studies on RCD in the lungs focusing on apoptosis not only employing TUNEL assay would help towards understanding the pathways involved and potentially activated by the virus.

Finally, I will answer the questions proposed in the introduction of this review.

 What changes can be seen in the production of cytokines, specifically IL-10, TGF-β and TNF-α in response to PRRSV infection?

IL-10 and TGF- β have in the experiments mentioned been seen to be either upregulated or has remained undetectable.

- Can PRRSV induce pro- and anti-apoptotic pathways in the infected cell?

PRRSV can induce apoptosis in the infected cells via the extrinsic and possibly the intrinsic pathway. Whether it has the ability to inhibit apoptosis during replication in the cell is yet to be determined since there is currently little published material on this matter.

- What pulmonary cellular damages are seen during PRRSV infection?

Hypertrophy and hyperplasia of type 2 pneumocytes, thickening/infiltration of monocytes of the alveolar septa, necrotic debris and inflammatory cells filling the intraalveolar space, and perivascular cuffing is seen that accounts for the most severe pulmonary changes in response to PRRSV induced interstitial pneumonia.

5. Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Balka Gyula for his help and advice, as well as the opportunity to write this review. I also would like to thank Miss Dénes Lilla for her patience and assistance with my review, as well as the entire Department of Pathology of the University of Veterinary Medicine.

I would like to express my gratitude to my family and friends for their support and encouragement, and my two dogs Leo and Lucky for their unconditional love.

6. References

- Ait-Ali, T., Wilson, A.D., Westcott, D.G., Clapperton, M., Waterfall, M., Mellencamp, M.A., Drew, T.W., Bishop, S.C., Archibald, A.L., 2007. Innate Immune Responses to Replication of Porcine Reproductive And Respiratory Syndrome Virus in Isolated Swine Alveolar Macrophages. Viral Immunol. 20, 105–118. https://doi.org/10.1089/vim.2006.0078
- Amadori, M., Razzuoli, E., 2014. Immune Control of PRRS: Lessons to be Learned and Possible Ways Forward. Front. Vet. Sci. 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2014.00002
- Amarilla, S.P., Gómez-Laguna, J., Carrasco, L., Rodríguez-Gómez, I.M., Caridad y Ocerín, J.M., Morgan, S.B., Graham, S.P., Frossard, J.-P., Drew, T.W., Salguero, F.J., 2015. A comparative study of the local cytokine response in the lungs of pigs experimentally infected with different PRRSV-1 strains: Upregulation of IL-1α in highly pathogenic strain induced lesions. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 164, 137–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2015.02.003
- Amonsin, A., Kedkovid, R., Puranaveja, S., Wongyanin, P., Suradhat, S., Thanawongnuwech, R., 2009. Comparative analysis of complete nucleotide sequence of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) isolates in Thailand (US and EU genotypes). Virol. J. 6, 143. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-6-143
- Baarsch, M.J., Scamurra, R.W., Burger, K., Foss, D.L., Maheswaran, S.K., Murtaugh, M.P., 1995. Inflammatory cytokine expression in swine experimentally infected with Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae. Infect. Immun. 63, 3587–3594.
- Balka, G., Hornyák, Á., Bálint, Á., Kiss, I., Kecskeméti, S., Bakonyi, T., Rusvai, M., 2008. Genetic diversity of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus strains circulating in Hungarian swine herds. Vet. Microbiol. 127, 128–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2007.08.001
- Balka, G., Ladinig, A., Ritzmann, M., Saalmüller, A., Gerner, W., Käser, T., Jakab, C., Rusvai, M., Weißenböck, H., 2013. Immunohistochemical Characterization of Type II Pneumocyte Proliferation after Challenge with Type I Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. J. Comp. Pathol. 149, 322–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpa.2012.12.006
- Bartz, S.R., Emerman, M., 1999. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Tat Induces Apoptosis and Increases Sensitivity to Apoptotic Signals by Up-Regulating FLICE/Caspase-8. J. Virol. 73, 1956–1963.
- Benfield, D.A., Nelson, E., Collins, J.E., Harris, L., Goyal, S.M., Robison, D., Christianson, W.T., Morrison, R.B., Gorcyca, D., Chladek, D., 1992. Characterization of Swine Infertility and Respiratory Syndrome (SIRS) Virus (Isolate ATCC VR-2332). J. Vet. Diagn. Invest. 4, 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1177/104063879200400202
- Best, S.M., Bloom, M.E., 2004. Caspase activation during virus infection: more than just the kiss of death? Virology 320, 191–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2003.11.025
- Beyer, J., Fichtner, D., Schirrmeir, H., Polster, U., Weiland, E., Wege, H., 2000. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV): Kinetics of Infection in Lymphatic Organs and Lung. J. Vet. Med. Ser. B 47, 9–25. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0450.2000.00305.x
- Bøtner, A., Strandbygaard, B., Sørensen, K.J., Have, P., Madsen, K.G., Madsen, E.S., Alexandersen, S., 1997. Appearance of acute PRRS-like symptoms in sow herds after vaccination with a modified live PRRS vaccine. Vet. Rec. 141, 497–499. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.141.19.497
- Brooks, D.G., Trifilo, M.J., Edelmann, K.H., Teyton, L., McGavern, D.B., Oldstone, M.B.A., 2006. Interleukin-10 determines viral clearance or persistence in vivo. Nat. Med. 12, 1301–1309. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1492
- Carthy, C.M., Yanagawa, B., Luo, H., Granville, D.J., Yang, D., Cheung, P., Cheung, C., Esfandiarei, M., Rudin, C.M., Thompson, C.B., Hunt, D.W.C., McManus, B.M., 2003. Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL overexpression inhibits cytochrome c release, activation of multiple caspases, and virus

release following coxsackievirus B3 infection. Virology 313, 147–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6822(03)00242-3

- Chang, H.-C., Peng, Y.-T., Chang, H., Chaung, H.-C., Chung, W.-B., 2008. Phenotypic and functional modulation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Vet. Microbiol. 129, 281–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2007.12.002
- Charerntantanakul, W., Platt, R., Roth, J.A., 2006. Effects of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus-Infected Antigen-Presenting Cells on T Cell Activation and Antiviral Cytokine Production. Viral Immunol. 19, 646–661. https://doi.org/10.1089/vim.2006.19.646
- Chen, N., Cao, Z., Yu, X., Deng, X., Zhao, T., Wang, L., Liu, Q., Li, X., Tian, K., 2011. Emergence of novel European genotype porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in mainland China. J. Gen. Virol. 92, 880–892. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.027995-0
- Cheon, D.-S., Chae, C., 2000. Comparison of Virus Isolation, Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction, Immunohistochemistry, and in Situ Hybridization for the Detection of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus from Naturally Aborted Fetuses and Stillborn Piglets. J. Vet. Diagn. Invest. 12, 582–587. https://doi.org/10.1177/104063870001200619
- Cheon, D.-S., Chae, C., 1999. Distribution of a Korean Strain of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus in Experimentally Infected Pigs, as Demonstrated Immunohistochemically and by In-situ Hybridization. J. Comp. Pathol. 120, 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1053/jcpa.1998.0257
- Cheon, D.-S., Chae, C., Lee, Y.-S., 1997. Detection of nucleic acids of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in the lungs of naturally infected piglets as determined by insitu hybridization. J. Comp. Pathol. 117, 157–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9975(97)80032-1
- Chiou, M.-T., Jeng, C.-R., Chueh, L.-L., Cheng, C.-H., Pang, V.F., 2000. Effects of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (isolate tw91) on porcine alveolar macrophages in vitro. Vet. Microbiol. 71, 9–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1135(99)00159-5
- Chipuk, J.E., Bouchier-Hayes, L., Green, D.R., 2006. Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization during apoptosis: the innocent bystander scenario. Cell Death Differ. 13, 1396–1402. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4401963
- Choi, C., Chae, C., 2002. Expression of tumour necrosis factor-α is associated with apoptosis in lungs of pigs experimentally infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Res. Vet. Sci. 72, 45–49. https://doi.org/10.1053/rvsc.2001.0519
- Choi, C., Cho, W.-S., Kim, B., Chae, C., 2002. Expression of Interferon-gamma and Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha in Pigs Experimentally Infected with Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV). J. Comp. Pathol. 127, 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1053/jcpa.2002.0566
- Chung, H.-K., Chae, C., 2003. Expression of Interleukin-10 and Interleukin-12 in Piglets Experimentally Infected with Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV). J. Comp. Pathol. 129, 205–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9975(03)00036-7
- Coe, N.E., Frank, D.E., Roth, J.A., 1993. Effect of recombinant human cytokines on porcine neutrophil function. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 37, 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-2427(93)90014-U
- Costers, S., Lefebvre, D.J., Delputte, P.L., Nauwynck, H.J., 2008. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus modulates apoptosis during replication in alveolar macrophages. Arch. Virol. 153, 1453–1465. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-008-0135-5
- Cryns, V., Yuan, J., 1998. Proteases to die for. Genes Dev. 12, 1551–1570. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.12.11.1551
- Darbès, J., Hafner, A., Breuer, W., Hänichen, T., Banholzer, E., Hermanns, W., 1996. Histopathological Findings in Pigs of Various Ages Suffering from Spontaneous Infection

with the Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV). J. Vet. Med. Ser. A 43, 353–363. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0442.1996.tb00463.x

- Darwich, L., Díaz, I., Mateu, E., 2010. Certainties, doubts and hypotheses in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus immunobiology. Virus Res. 154, 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2010.07.017
- Dewey, C., Charbonneau, G., Carman, S., Hamel, A., Nayar, G., Friendship, R., Eernisse, K., Swenson, S., 2000. Lelystad-like strain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) identified in Canadian swine. Can. Vet. J. 41, 493–494.
- Dinarello, C.A., Cannon, J.G., Wolff, S.M., Bernheim, H.A., Beutler, B., Cerami, A., Figari, I.S., Palladino, M.A., O'Connor, J.V., 1986. Tumor necrosis factor (cachectin) is an endogenous pyrogen and induces production of interleukin 1. J. Exp. Med. 163, 1433–1450. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.163.6.1433
- Dixon, L., Sánchez-Cordón, P., Galindo, I., Alonso, C., 2017. Investigations of Pro- and Anti-Apoptotic Factors Affecting African Swine Fever Virus Replication and Pathogenesis. Viruses 9, 241. https://doi.org/10.3390/v9090241
- Duan, X., Nauwynck, H.J., Pensaert, M.B., 1997a. Effects of origin and state of differentiation and activation of monocytes/macrophages on their susceptibility to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). Arch. Virol. 142, 2483–2497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s007050050256
- Duan, X., Nauwynck, H.J., Pensaert, M.B., 1997b. Virus quantification and identification of cellular targets in the lungs and lymphoid tissues of pigs at different time intervals after inoculation with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). Vet. Microbiol. 56, 9– 19. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1135(96)01347-8
- Fadok, V.A., Bratton, D.L., Guthrie, L., Henson, P.M., 2001. Differential Effects of Apoptotic Versus Lysed Cells on Macrophage Production of Cytokines: Role of Proteases. J. Immunol. 166, 6847–6854. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6847
- Fan, L., 2019. Signaling pathways involved in regulating apoptosis induction in host cells upon PRRSV infection. Virus Genes 55, 433–439. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11262-019-01665-z
- Fang, Y., Schneider, P., Zhang, W.P., Faaberg, K.S., Nelson, E.A., Rowland, R.R.R., 2007. Diversity and evolution of a newly emerged North American Type 1 porcine arterivirus: analysis of isolates collected between 1999 and 2004. Arch. Virol. 152, 1009–1017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-007-0936-y
- Flores-Mendoza, L., Silva-Campa, E., Reséndiz, M., Osorio, F.A., Hernández, J., 2008. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Infects Mature Porcine Dendritic Cells and Up-Regulates Interleukin-10 Production. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 15, 720–725. https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00224-07
- Forsberg, R., Storgaard, T., Nielsen, H.S., Oleksiewicz, M.B., Cordioli, P., Sala, G., Hein, J., Bøtner, A., 2002. The Genetic Diversity of European Type PRRSV Is Similar to That of the North American Type but Is Geographically Skewed within Europe. Virology 299, 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1006/viro.2002.1450
- Gadaleta, P., Perfetti, X., Mersich, S., Coulombié, F., 2005. Early activation of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway in Vesicular Stomatitis Virus-infected cells. Virus Res. 109, 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2004.10.007
- Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Aaronson, S.A., Abrams, J.M., Adam, D., Agostinis, P., Alnemri, E.S., Altucci, L., Amelio, I., Andrews, D.W., Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli, M., Antonov, A.V., Arama, E., Baehrecke, E.H., Barlev, N.A., Bazan, N.G., Bernassola, F., Bertrand, M.J.M., Bianchi, K., Blagosklonny, M.V., Blomgren, K., Borner, C., Boya, P., Brenner, C., Campanella, M., Candi, E., Carmona-Gutierrez, D., Cecconi, F., Chan, F.K.-M., Chandel, N.S., Cheng, E.H., Chipuk, J.E., Cidlowski, J.A., Ciechanover, A., Cohen, G.M., Conrad, M., Cubillos-Ruiz, J.R., Czabotar, P.E., D'Angiolella, V., Dawson, T.M., Dawson, V.L., De Laurenzi, V., De Maria, R., Debatin, K.-M., DeBerardinis, R.J., Deshmukh, M., Di Daniele, N., Di Virgilio, F., Dixit, V.M., Dixon, S.J., Duckett, C.S., Dynlacht, B.D., El-Deiry, W.S., Elrod, J.W., Fimia, G.M., Fulda, S., García-Sáez,

A.J., Garg, A.D., Garrido, C., Gavathiotis, E., Golstein, P., Gottlieb, E., Green, D.R., Greene, L.A., Gronemeyer, H., Gross, A., Hajnoczky, G., Hardwick, J.M., Harris, I.S., Hengartner, M.O., Hetz, C., Ichijo, H., Jäättelä, M., Joseph, B., Jost, P.J., Juin, P.P., Kaiser, W.J., Karin, M., Kaufmann, T., Kepp, O., Kimchi, A., Kitsis, R.N., Klionsky, D.J., Knight, R.A., Kumar, S., Lee, S.W., Lemasters, J.J., Levine, B., Linkermann, A., Lipton, S.A., Lockshin, R.A., López-Otín, C., Lowe, S.W., Luedde, T., Lugli, E., MacFarlane, M., Madeo, F., Malewicz, M., Malorni, W., Manic, G., Marine, J.-C., Martin, S.J., Martinou, J.-C., Medema, J.P., Mehlen, P., Meier, P., Melino, S., Miao, E.A., Molkentin, J.D., Moll, U.M., Muñoz-Pinedo, C., Nagata, S., Nuñez, G., Oberst, A., Oren, M., Overholtzer, M., Pagano, M., Panaretakis, T., Pasparakis, M., Penninger, J.M., Pereira, D.M., Pervaiz, S., Peter, M.E., Piacentini, M., Pinton, P., Prehn, J.H.M., Puthalakath, H., Rabinovich, G.A., Rehm, M., Rizzuto, R., Rodrigues, C.M.P., Rubinsztein, D.C., Rudel, T., Ryan, K.M., Sayan, E., Scorrano, L., Shao, F., Shi, Y., Silke, J., Simon, H.-U., Sistigu, A., Stockwell, B.R., Strasser, A., Szabadkai, G., Tait, S.W.G., Tang, D., Tavernarakis, N., Thorburn, A., Tsujimoto, Y., Turk, B., Vanden Berghe, T., Vandenabeele, P., Vander Heiden, M.G., Villunger, A., Virgin, H.W., Vousden, K.H., Vucic, D., Wagner, E.F., Walczak, H., Wallach, D., Wang, Y., Wells, J.A., Wood, W., Yuan, J., Zakeri, Z., Zhivotovsky, B., Zitvogel, L., Melino, G., Kroemer, G., 2018. Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018. Cell Death Differ. 25, 486-541. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-017-0012-4

- Garg, H., Joshi, A., 2017. Host and Viral Factors in HIV-Mediated Bystander Apoptosis. Viruses 9, 237. https://doi.org/10.3390/v9080237
- Gimeno, M., Darwich, L., Diaz, I., de la Torre, E., Pujols, J., Martín, M., Inumaru, S., Cano, E., Domingo, M., Montoya, M., Mateu, E., 2011. Cytokine profiles and phenotype regulation of antigen presenting cells by genotype-I porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolates. Vet. Res. 42, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1297-9716-42-9
- Gomez, G., Ferro, P., Velayudhan, B., 2018. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome: a focus on the respiratory syndrome [WWW Document]. URL https://tvmdl.tamu.edu/2018/03/22/porcine-reproductive-respiratory-syndrome-focusrespiratory-

syndrome/?fbclid=IwAR2ks_74LGujgBFRrfuYox8uLb42tD5BVLWy3J9Ls_26CBj33feraT573z

- Gómez-Laguna, J., Rodríguez-Gómez, I.M., Barranco, I., Pallarés, F.J., Salguero, F.J., Carrasco, L., 2012. Enhanced expression of TGFβ protein in lymphoid organs and lung, but not in serum, of pigs infected with a European field isolate of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Vet. Microbiol. 158, 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.02.003
- Gómez-Laguna, J., Salguero, F.J., Barranco, I., Pallarés, F.J., Rodríguez-Gómez, I.M., Bernabé, A., Carrasco, L., 2010. Cytokine Expression by Macrophages in the Lung of Pigs Infected with the Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. J. Comp. Pathol. 142, 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpa.2009.07.004
- Gorbalenya, A.E., Krupovic, M., Siddell, S., Varsani, A., 2018. International committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) [WWW Document]. Int. Comm. Taxon. Viruses ICTV. URL https://talk.ictvonline.org/taxonomy/p/taxonomy-history?taxnode_id=20186087
- Halbur, P.G., Paul, P.S., Meng, X.-J., Lum, M.A., Andrews, J.J., Rathje, J.A., 1996. Comparative Pathogenicity of Nine US Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV) Isolates in a Five-Week-Old Cesarean-Derived, Colostrum-Deprived Pig Model. J. Vet. Diagn. Invest. 8, 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/104063879600800103
- Johnson, C.R., Griggs, T.F., Gnanandarajah, J., Murtaugh, M.P., 2011. Novel structural protein in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus encoded by an alternative ORF5 present in all arteriviruses. J. Gen. Virol. 92, 1107–1116. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.030213-0

- Jung, K., Alekseev, K.P., Zhang, X., Cheon, D.-S., Vlasova, A.N., Saif, L.J., 2007. Altered Pathogenesis of Porcine Respiratory Coronavirus in Pigs due to Immunosuppressive Effects of Dexamethasone: Implications for Corticosteroid Use in Treatment of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus. J. Virol. 81, 13681–13693. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01702-07
- Kim, H.K., Yang, J.S., Moon, H.J., Park, S.J., Luo, Y., Lee, C.S., Song, D.S., Kang, B.K., Ann, S.K., Jun, C.H., Park, B.K., 2009. Genetic analysis of ORF5 of recent Korean porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses (PRRSVs) in viremic sera collected from MLV-vaccinating or non-vaccinating farms. J. Vet. Sci. 10, 121. https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2009.10.2.121
- Kim, H.S., Kwang, J., Yoon, I.J., Joo, H.S., Frey, M.L., 1993. Enhanced replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus in a homogeneous subpopulation of MA-104 cell line. Arch. Virol. 133, 477–483. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01313785
- Labarque, G., Van Gucht, S., Nauwynck, H., Van Reeth, K., Pensaert, M., 2003. Apoptosis in the lungs of pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virusand associations with the production of apoptogenic cytokines. Vet. Res. 34, 249–260. https://doi.org/10.1051/vetres:2003001
- Labarque, G.G., Nauwynck, H.J., Van Reeth, K., Pensaert, M.B.Y. 2000, 2000. Effect of cellular changes and onset of humoral immunity on the replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in the lungs of pigs. J. Gen. Virol. 81, 1327–1334. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-81-5-1327
- Lee, S.-M., Kleiboeker, S.B., 2007. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus induces apoptosis through a mitochondria-mediated pathway. Virology 365, 419–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2007.04.001
- Letterio, J.J., Roberts, A.B., 1998. REGULATION OF IMMUNE RESPONSES BY TGF-β. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 16, 137–161. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.137
- López-Fuertes, L., Campos, E., Doménech, N., Ezquerra, A., Castro, J.M., Domínguez, J., Alonso, F., 2000. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus down-modulates TNFα production in infected macrophages. Virus Res. 69, 41–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1702(00)00172-6
- Lunney, J.K., Fang, Y., Ladinig, A., Chen, N., Li, Y., Rowland, B., Renukaradhya, G.J., 2016. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV): Pathogenesis and Interaction with the Immune System. Annu. Rev. Anim. Biosci. 4, 129–154. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-animal-022114-111025
- Mandal, A., 2019. Cytokine Classification [WWW Document]. URL https://www.newsmedical.net/health/Cytokine-Classification.aspx?fbclid=IwAR3CINMdbpG2JmsatzOkysmK6Yjr7D27qmPkwGmmz4psTYP kFDk-VRMK-d0 (accessed 8.29.21).
- Martinez, M.M., Reif, R.D., Pappas, D., 2010. Detection of apoptosis: A review of conventional and novel techniques. Anal. Methods 2, 996. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0ay00247j
- Meulenberg, J.J., Snijder, E.J., 1998. The molecular biology of arteriviruses. J. Gen. Virol. 79, 961– 979. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-79-5-961
- Moore, K.W., de Waal Malefyt, R., Coffman, R.L., O'Garra, A., 2001. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 19, 683–765. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.683
- Nazki, S., Khatun, A., Jeong, C.-G., Mattoo, S. ul S., Gu, S., Lee, S.-I., Kim, S.-C., Park, J.-H., Yang, M.-S., Kim, B., Park, C.-K., Lee, S.-M., Kim, W.-I., 2020. Evaluation of local and systemic immune responses in pigs experimentally challenged with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Vet. Res. 51, 66. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-020-00789-7
- Nelson, S., Bagby, G.J., Bainton, B.G., Wilson, L.A., Thompson, J.J., Summer, W.R., 1989. Compartmentalization of Intraalveolar and Systemic Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Tumor

Necrosis Factor and the Pulmonary Inflammatory Response. J. Infect. Dis. 159, 189–194. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/159.2.189

- Neumann, E.J., Kliebenstein, J.B., Johnson, C.D., Mabry, J.W., Bush, E.J., Seitzinger, A.H., Green, A.L., Zimmerman, J.J., 2005. Assessment of the economic impact of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome on swine production in the United States. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 227, 385–392. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2005.227.385
- Ohmann, H.B., Campos, M., Snider, M., Rapin, N., Beskorwayne, T., Popowych, Y., Lawman, M.J.P., Rossi, A., Babiuk, L.A., 1989. Effect of Chronic Administration of Recombinant Bovine Tumor Necrosis Factor to Cattle. Vet. Pathol. 26, 462–472. https://doi.org/10.1177/030098588902600602
- Orzalli, M.H., Kagan, J.C., 2017. Apoptosis and Necroptosis as Host Defense Strategies to Prevent Viral Infection. Trends Cell Biol. 27, 800–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2017.05.007
- Payne, S., 2017. Family Arteriviridae, in: Viruses. Elsevier, pp. 159–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803109-4.00018-0
- Peng, Y.-T., Chaung, H.-C., Chang, H., Chang, H.-C., Chung, W.-B., 2009. Modulations of phenotype and cytokine expression of porcine bone marrow-derived dendritic cells by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Vet. Microbiol. 136, 359–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2008.11.013
- Renukaradhya, G.J., Alekseev, K., Jung, K., Fang, Y., Saif, L.J., 2010. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus–Induced Immunosuppression Exacerbates the Inflammatory Response to Porcine Respiratory Coronavirus in Pigs. Viral Immunol. 23, 457–466. https://doi.org/10.1089/vim.2010.0051
- Rigbe, A., 2020. Review on the role and Biology of Cytokines in Adaptive and Innate Immune System [WWW Document]. URL https://escientificpublishers.com/review-on-the-roleand-biology-of-cytokines-in-adaptive-and-innate-immune-system-AVAS-02-0018?fbclid=IwAR3kJR8Y-UHf8n9vhgBxp5reSEwGFHoMkijZPgiOKKrsoucO5avlk-IFoZ8 (accessed 8.29.21).
- Rojas, J.M., Avia, M., Martín, V., Sevilla, N., 2017. IL-10: A Multifunctional Cytokine in Viral Infections. J. Immunol. Res. 2017, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/6104054
- Ropp, S.L., Wees, C.E.M., Fang, Y., Nelson, E.A., Rossow, K.D., Bien, M., Arndt, B., Preszler, S., Steen, P., Christopher-Hennings, J., Collins, J.E., Benfield, D.A., Faaberg, K.S., 2004. Characterization of Emerging European-Like Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus Isolates in the United States. J. Virol. 78, 3684–3703. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.78.7.3684-3703.2004
- Rossow, K.D., 1998. Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome. Vet. Pathol. 35, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/030098589803500101
- Sánchez-Carvajal, J.M., Ruedas-Torres, I., Carrasco, L., Pallarés, F.J., Mateu, E., Rodríguez-Gómez, I.M., Gómez-Laguna, J., 2021. Activation of regulated cell death in the lung of piglets infected with virulent PRRSV-1 Lena strain occurs earlier and mediated by cleaved Caspase-8. Vet. Res. 52, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-020-00882-x
- Sendra, L., Herrero, M.J., Olivera, G., Diaz, A., Noguera, I., Ruiz-Sauri, A., Fernandez-Delgado, R., Bodi, V., Alino, S.F., 2019. Effet of hIL10 Naked DNA delivery on swine heart tissue after acute infarct. 15/08/2019. https://doi.org/10.26502/acmcr.96550079
- Silva-Campa, E., Flores-Mendoza, L., Reséndiz, M., Pinelli-Saavedra, A., Mata-Haro, V., Mwangi, W., Hernández, J., 2009. Induction of T helper 3 regulatory cells by dendritic cells infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virology 387, 373–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2009.02.033
- Snijder, E.J., 1998. The Arterivirus Replicase: The Road from RNA to Protein(s), and Back Again, in: Enjuanes, L., Siddell, S.G., Spaan, W. (Eds.), Coronaviruses and Arteriviruses, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Springer US, Boston, MA, pp. 97–109. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-5331-1_13

- Song, L., Han, X., Jia, C., Zhang, X., Jiao, Y., Du, T., Xiao, S., Hiscox, J.A., Zhou, E.-M., Mu, Y., 2018. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus inhibits MARC-145 proliferation via inducing apoptosis and G2/M arrest by activation of Chk/Cdc25C and p53/p21 pathway. Virol. J. 15, 169. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-018-1081-9
- Strieter, R.M., Lukacs, N.W., Standiford, T.J., Kunkel, S.L., 1993. Cytokines. 2. Cytokines and lung inflammation: mechanisms of neutrophil recruitment to the lung. Thorax 48, 765–769. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.48.7.765
- Su, C.-M., Rowland, R.R.R., Yoo, D., 2021. Recent Advances in PRRS Virus Receptors and the Targeting of Receptor–Ligand for Control. Vaccines 9, 354. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9040354
- Suda, T., D'Ovidio, F., Daddi, N., Ritter, J.H., Mohanakumar, T., Patterson, G.A., 2001. Recipient intramuscular gene transfer of active transforming growth factor-β1 attenuates acute lung rejection. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 71, 1651–1656. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-4975(01)02528-0
- Sundell, J.B., Haukaas, A., 2020. Porcine reprodutive and respiratory syndrome [WWW Document]. URL https://www.vetinst.no/sykdom-og-agens/porcine-reproductive-and-respiratory-syndrome-prrs
- Sur, J.-H., Doster, A.R., Osorio, F.A., 1998. Apoptosis Induced In Vivo During Acute Infection by Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. Vet. Pathol. 35, 506–514. https://doi.org/10.1177/030098589803500605
- Suradhat, S., Thanawongnuwech, R., Poovorawan, Y., 2003. Upregulation of IL-10 gene expression in porcine peripheral blood mononuclear cells by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Gen. Virol. 84, 453–459. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.18698-0
- Teodoro, J.G., Branton, P.E., 1997. Regulation of apoptosis by viral gene products. J. Virol. 71, 1739–1746. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.71.3.1739-1746.1997
- Thanawongnuwech, R., 2004. Genetics and geographical variation of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) in Thailand. Vet. Microbiol. 101, 9–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2004.03.005
- Thomson, B.J., 2001. Viruses and apoptosis. Int. J. Exp. Pathol. 82, 65–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2613.2001.iep0082-0065-x
- Tizard, I.R., 2012. Veterinary Immunology, 9th ed. Elsevier Saunders, Missouri.
- Van Reeth, K., Labarque, G., Nauwynck, H., Pensaert, M., 1999. Differential production of proinflammatory cytokines in the pig lung during different respiratory virus infections: correlations with pathogenicity. Res. Vet. Sci. 67, 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1053/rvsc.1998.0277
- Van Reeth, K., Nauwynck, H., 2000. Proinflammatory cytokines and viral respiratory disease in pigs. Vet. Res. 31, 187–213. https://doi.org/10.1051/vetres:2000113
- van Vugt, J.J.F.A., Storgaard, T., Oleksiewicz, M.B., Bøtner, A., 2001. High frequency RNA recombination in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus occurs preferentially between parental sequences with high similarity. J. Gen. Virol. 82, 2615– 2620. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-82-11-2615
- Von Ahsen, O., Waterhouse, N.J., Kuwana, T., Newmeyer, D.D., Green, D.R., 2000. The 'harmless' release of cytochrome c. Cell Death Differ. 7, 1192–1199. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4400782
- Wang, X., Eaton, M., Mayer, M., Li, H., He, D., Nelson, E., Christopher-Hennings, J., 2007. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus productively infects monocyte-derived dendritic cells and compromises their antigen-presenting ability. Arch. Virol. 152, 289– 303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-006-0857-1
- Wang, Y., Chen, Y., Liang, G., Zeng, K., Chen, X., Ying, S., Wang, Z., Lv, X.-B., Gao, R., 2019. Silence of TGF-β1 gene expression reduces prrsv replication and potentiates immunity of immune cells of tibetan pig. Vet. Anim. Sci. 8, 100074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vas.2019.100074

- Wensvoort, G., Terpstra, C., Pol, J.M.A., ter Laak, E.A., Bloemraad, M., de Kluyver, E.P., Kragten, C., van Buiten, L., den Besten, A., Wagenaar, F., Broekhuijsen, J.M., Moonen, P.L.J.M., Zetstra, T., de Boer, E.A., Tibben, H.J., de Jong, M.F., van 't Veld, P., Greenland, G.J.R., van Gennep, J.A., Voets, M.Th., Verheijden, J.H.M., Braamskamp, J., 1991. Mystery swine disease in the Netherlands: The isolation of Lelystad virus. Vet. Q. 13, 121–130. https://doi.org/10.1080/01652176.1991.9694296
- Wu, X., Molinaro, C., Johnson, N., Casiano, C.A., 2001. Secondary necrosis is a source of proteolytically modified forms of specific intracellular autoantigens: Implications for systemic autoimmunity. Arthritis Rheum. 44, 2642–2652. https://doi.org/10.1002/1529-0131(200111)44:11<2642::AID-ART444>3.0.CO;2-8
- Xiao, S., Mo, D., Wang, Q., Jia, J., Qin, L., Yu, X., Niu, Y., Zhao, X., Liu, X., Chen, Y., 2010. Aberrant host immune response induced by highly virulent PRRSV identified by digital gene expression tag profiling. BMC Genomics 11, 544. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-544
- Zachary, J.F., 2017. Pathological basis of veterinary disease, 6th ed. Elsevier, St. Louis, Missouri.
- Zhang, J.-M., An, J., 2007. Cytokines, Inflammation, and Pain. Int. Anesthesiol. Clin. 45, 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1097/AIA.0b013e318034194e
- Zhang, Y., Zhou, Y., Yang, Q., Mu, C., Duan, E., Chen, J., Yang, M., Xia, P., Cui, B., 2012. Ligation of Fc gamma receptor IIB enhances levels of antiviral cytokine in response to PRRSV infection in vitro. Vet. Microbiol. 160, 473–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.06.021
- Zimmerman, J.J., Karriker, L.A., Ramirez, A., Schwartz, K.J., Stevenson, G.W., Zhang, J., 2019. Diseases of swine, 11th ed. Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken USA.

I hereby confirm that I am familiar with the content of the thesis entitled:

Pulomary pathology of PRRS written by Anne Martine Høiby which I deem suitable for submission and defence.

Date: Budapest, 16. November. 2021.

Balla Soule

Dr. Gyula Balka Department of Pathology

HuVetA

ELECTRONIC LICENSE AGREEMENT AND COPYRIGHT DECLARATION*

Name: Anne Martine Høiby
Contact information (e-mail): anne-ss@hotmail.com
Title of document (to be uploaded): Pulmonary pathology of PRRS
Publication data of document: Thesis
Number of files submitted:1

By accepting the present agreement the author or copyright owner grants non-exclusive license to HuVetA over the above mentioned document (including its abstract) to be converted to copy protected PDF format without changing its content, in order to archive, reproduce, and make accessible under the conditions specified below.

The author agrees that HuVetA may store more than one copy (accessible only to HuVetA administrators) of the licensed document exclusively for purposes of secure storage and backup, if necessary.

You state that the submission is your original work, and that you have the right to grant the rights contained in this license. You also state that your submission does not, to the best of your knowledge, infringe upon anyone's copyright. If the document has parts which you are not the copyright owner of, you have to indicate that you have obtained unrestricted permission from the copyright owner to grant the rights required by this Agreement, and that any such third-party owned material is clearly identified and acknowledged within the text of the licensed document.

The copyright owner defines the scope of access to the document stored in HuVetA as follows (**mark the appropriate box with an X)**:



I grant unlimited online access,

I grant access only through the intranet (IP range) of the University of Veterinary Medicine,



I grant access only on one dedicated computer at the Ferenc Hutÿra Library,

I grant unlimited online access only to the bibliographic data and abstract of the document.

Please, define the in-house accessibility of the document by marking the below box with an X



I grant in-house access (namely, reading the hard copy version of the document) at the Library.

If the preparation of the document to be uploaded was supported or sponsored by a firm or an organization, you also declare that you are entitled to sign the present Agreement concerning the document.

The operators of HuVetA do not assume any legal liability or responsibility towards the author/copyright holder/organizations in case somebody uses the material legally uploaded to HuVetA in a way that is unlawful.

Date: Budapest, ...16....day ...11.....month....2021.....year

pyright ow Author/cc signature

HuVetA Magyar Állatorvos-tudományi Archívum – Hungarian Veterinary Archive is an online veterinary repository operated by the Ferenc Hutÿra Library, Archives and Museum. It is an electronic knowledge base which aims to collect, organize, store documents regarding Hungarian veterinary science and history, and make them searchable and accessible in line with current legal requirements and regulations.

HuVetA relies on the latest technology in order to provide easy searchability (by search engines, as well) and access to the full text document, whenever possible. Based on the above. HuVetA aims to:

- increase awareness of Hungarian veterinary science not only in Hungary, but also internationally;
- increase citation numbers of publications authored by Hungarian veterinarians, thus improve the impact factor of Hungarian veterinary journals;
- present the knowledge base of the University of Veterinary Medicine Budapest and its partners in a focussed way in order to improve the prestige of the Hungarian veterinary profession, and the competitiveness of the organizations in question;
- facilitate professional relations and collaboration;
- support open access.